ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROGER WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213388

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 29 2014
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in admitting a photograph of the deceased's body encased in cement where the danger of unfair prejudice clearly outweighed any probative value of the photograph in light of its obvious graphic nature and lack of any probative value to the elements of the offenses charged.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 8, 2010, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for homicide by child abuse (2010-GS-08-1519) and unlawful conduct toward a child (2010-GS-08-1521). R. 900. Prior to the trial on these charges, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. presided over pretrial hearings on September 18, 2012. Debi Herring-Lash and Anne Williams represented the state, and James K. Falk represented Appellant. R. 1. During the pretrial hearing, Appellant entered a guilty plea to the charge of destruction or desecration of human remains. R. 11, line 2 – R. 17, line 6. Sentencing on this charge was deferred until after Appellant’s trial on the other two charges. R. 15, lines 8-19. Appellant was convicted by the jury of homicide by child abuse and unlawful conduct toward a child. R. 496, line 22 – R. 497, line 14. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to ten years’ imprisonment for unlawful conduct toward a child, life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for homicide by child abuse, and ten years’ imprisonment for desecration of human remains. He ordered all sentences to run concurrently. R. 19, lines 16-24; R. 507, line 22 – R. 509, line 21; R. 902.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Grace Trotman and Appellant were romantically involved from 2006 through 2010. R. 85, lines 20-21; R. 86, lines 1-11; R. 166, lines 13-21. Trotman and Appellant had their first child, Ya'jura W., together in September 2007. R. 88, lines 10-11; R. 89, lines 3-5. They had their second child, Ya'King W., on September 22, 2009. R. 91, lines 13-20. During this time, Trotman and Appellant discovered Appellant had fathered a son, hereinafter identified as Minor or deceased, by another woman in 2007. R. 95, lines 18-22. Minor began visiting with Trotman and Appellant in their home shortly after this discovery. R. 96, lines 12-15; R. 211, line 23 – R. 212, line 4; R. 212, lines 12-14. When Trotman inquired about disciplining Minor, Appellant told her “not to beat him,” only “pop him.” R. 100, lines 2-9. In May 2010, Appellant and Minor’s mother arranged for Minor to spend the summer with Appellant and Trotman while Minor’s mother relocated to Columbia. R. 217, line 23 – R. 218, line 19.

Trotman, the state’s key witness, described the relationship between Appellant and Minor as “really good in the beginning.” R. 104, line 22 – R. 105, line 2.¹ Trotman claimed that Appellant would encourage Ya'jura W. to “slap [Minor,] scratch [Minor], and drag [Minor] to get him to toughen up.” R. 105, lines 11-16. Further, Trotman claimed Appellant believed Minor acted effeminately and was slow mentally, which bothered Appellant. R. 106, lines 6-13; R. 107, line 6 – R. 108, line 16. Trotman claimed Appellant started hitting Minor, which left bruises. Tr. 212, line 19 – Tr. 213, line 2. Upon direct questioning by the prosecutor, Trotman testified that she saw Appellant beat Minor less than ten times. In the beginning, Appellant “would just kinda paddle and like pop him on his

¹ Trotman pled guilty and agreed to testify against Appellant. R. 162, lines 2-20.

arm.” Then, she claimed he began using his closed fist to Minor’s back or chest or would “slap his head to the floor.” R. 124, line 20 – R. 125, line 9.² Trotman claimed she was too scared to help Minor. R. 109, lines 7-8.

According to Trotman, Minor had a “seizure” after Appellant “boxed him in his back.” R. 110, lines 5-8.³ She described the “seizure” as Minor “grunting,” something “weird” going on with his eyes, and a loss of consciousness. R. 110, line 22 – R. 111, line 2; R. 157, lines 7-15. When they gave Minor some water, he “snapped out of it.” R. 111, lines 11-15. The following day, Minor woke only after Trotman shook him. She considered this the second “seizure” episode because Minor usually woke very easily. R. 112, lines 1-20. Minor was “okay” afterward and acted normally. R. 112, lines 21-23; R. 113, lines 8-10.

On Sunday, June 6, 2010, Minor “had poop on the back of his pants” and on the floor of his bedroom. R. 114, lines 10-19. Trotman claimed that Appellant took Minor into his bedroom and she “just heard him kind of bumping and hitting him against the wall.” Trotman did not seek to intervene – she stayed on the couch. R. 118, line 20 – R. 119, line 4. Eventually, Trotman entered the bedroom where she saw Minor “sitting on the wall like he was in a daze.” R. 119, lines 5 - 12. Initially, Trotman claimed Appellant stayed in the

² Trotman also claimed that Appellant physically abused her during the relationship, which would result in her living with other people at various times. R. 91, line 21 – R. 92, line 9.

³ This allegedly occurred within a week of Minor’s death. R. 124, lines 11-16; R. 169, line 12 – R. 170, line 8.

home all night on Sunday until he left for work on Monday; however, she admitted that she was unsure whether that was true. R. 119, line 23 – r. 120, line 14.⁴

Trotman gave numerous conflicting accounts of what occurred the following morning, Monday, June 7, 2010. At various times, she claimed Minor fell down a flight of stairs or was beaten by Ya’jura W., his two-year old sister. R. 151, line 6 – R. 153, line 6; R. 154, lines 14-24; R. 167, line 23 – R. 169, line 11; R. 510; R. 651; R. 696.

At the trial, Trotman testified she was feeding Ya’King W. when Minor and Ya’jura W. started fighting. When the two did not stop at her verbal command, she popped them on their arms. R. 120, lines 15-25. Minor “fell to his bottom, lost balance and hit his head on the wall.” R. 121, lines 1-3; R. 189, lines 6-25.⁵ Trotman claimed Minor “started acting different, like the other days where he was having trouble breathing, like gasping for air.” R. 123, lines 8-12; R. 190, lines 15-17. She claimed she performed CPR on Minor; which she learned from a television program. R. 123, lines 13-20; R. 190, lines 18-21. After performing CPR, Trotman claimed Minor was breathing and his heart was beating. She then ran outside to use a neighbor’s phone. R. 125, line 13 – R. 126, line 8; R. 190, lines 22-

⁴ Kelly Garrett testified that she received a telephone call from Appellant around 5 a.m. on Monday morning asking for a ride from the Economy Inn, where he was staying, to the home he shared with Trotman, and then to his place of work. R. 374, lines 3-23. Garrett picked Appellant up from his hotel room in Summerville shortly after 6 a.m. R. 377, lines 1-20. She then took him to his home where Trotman was waiting. R. 377, lines 21-25. She waited while Appellant retrieved his work items and took him to work. R. 378, line 8 – R. 379, line 4. Ron Patel, the owner of the Economy Inn in Summerville, testified that according to his daily report, an individual named “T. Williams” checked into room 305 for one day on June 6, 2010. R. 393, line 12 – R. 396, line 1; R. 890.

⁵ On cross-examination, Trotman admitted she told police that she snapped and hit Minor on Monday morning while Appellant was working. R. 182, line 4 – R. 185, line 18. Whilden Baggett testified that Trotman demonstrated striking Minor after she “snapped” under the pressure. R. 400, line 1 – R. 402, line 12.

23. Instead of calling for an ambulance, Trotman called Appellant who was at work. Appellant told her he was on his way home, but had to wait for a ride. Trotman did not tell the neighbor's about Minor's condition. R. 126, line 10 – R. 127, line 19. Trotman used another neighbor's phone to call Appellant again. Tr. 231, line 20 - Tr. 232, line 22. Trotman did not return to Minor; instead, she waited outside for Appellant to arrive. R. 128, line 23 – R. 129, line 4; R. 191, line 25 – R. 192, line 3.

Appellant discovered Minor's lifeless body when he arrived home from work. R. 129, lines 7-10. The two then devised a plan to dispose of Minor's body – placing the body in a trash can and then covering the body with cement. R. 130, line 1 – R. 131, line 23. Trotman rented a truck, which the two used to transport Minor's body to Orangeburg County, where they placed the body in an isolated area. R. 131, line 25 – R. 132, line 9; R. 132, line 24 – R. 137, line 3.

During the week of July 4th, Minor's mother wanted to visit with Minor. R. 140, line 22 – R. 141, line 12; R. 220, lines 10-21. Trotman drove with her two children to The Battery in Charleston where she pretended Minor had gone missing. The police arrived and assisted in the search for Minor. R. 144, lines 16-22; R. 149, line 13 – R. 150, line 1; R. 224, line 11 – R. 225, line 16; R. 225, line 23 – R. 226, line 5. Eventually, the police transported Trotman to the police station where she was questioned for hours by various members of law enforcement over several days during which she told numerous lies. R. 151, line 6 – R. 153, line 6; R. 154, lines 14-24; R. 510; R. 651; R. 696. During the interrogation, Trotman told police where to find Minor's body. R. 153, line 8 – R. 154, line 10. At the end of the police interviews, Trotman confessed to hitting Minor. R. 157, lines 16-18.

The state's pathologist, Nicholas Batalis, opined the cause of death was "homicidal violence, including probable blunt head trauma" because of the condition in which the body was found and his finding of two contusions on the scalp. R. 273, lines 1-25. Dr. Batalis determined there were no skull fractures followed by bleeding around the brain. R. 279, line 8 – R. 280, line 1. Thus, he concluded Minor suffered "a concussive type phenomenon" or what is called an axonal injury. This occurs when the brain is hit back and forth in the skull resulting in a shearing injury. R. 280, lines 2-12. According to Dr. Batalis, axonal injury could occur when the brain is exposed to an injury after an initial injury when the brain has not completely healed from the initial impact. This second injury may occur within a relatively short period of time to the first injury. R. 281, lines 15-21. Dr. Batalis admitted that axonal injury was only "one way in which head trauma could have caused [Minor] to die." Additionally, he could not rule out "second impact" injury. R. 285, line 24 – R. 286, line 11.

Appellant's expert pathologist, Kimberly Collins, explained that while the state's pathologist certified death as homicidal violence including blunt head trauma, other forms of homicidal violence were not ruled out. R. 295, line 20 – R. 296, line 14. Dr. Collins explained Minor may have died from asphyxia, commotio cordis, or a violent push causing Minor's neck to wrench to the side. R. 296, line 15 – R. 297, line 17. Importantly, Dr. Collins explained the contusions to the scalp were not fatal. R. 298, lines 16 – R. 299, line 1. Although axonal injury was a possible cause of death, Dr. Collins determined it was not any more likely to have caused Minor's death than asphyxiation. R. 299, lines 2-16.

Dr. Carol Jenny, who testified on behalf of the prosecution, opined that Minor "died because of repeated head injuries which led to his eventual collapse." R. 313, lines 13-19.

In her opinion, Minor suffered from a diffuse axonal injury, meaning the brain cells were concussed and stopped functioning, over the weeks leading to his death. R. 315, line 22 – R. 316, line 2. This opinion was based entirely upon reports that Minor suffered from seizures and decreased levels of consciousness. R. 316, lines 3-14; R. 319, line 6 – R. 320, line 12; R. 329, line 20 – R. 330, line 4. Further, Dr. Jenny concluded Minor had “multiple episodes of head injury, of concussion” based upon the witness statements she received from the prosecutor. R. 320, line 13 – R. 321, line 10. Being hit multiple times makes a child more vulnerable to a repeat episode, which Dr. Jenny characterized as “second impact syndrome.” R. 321, lines 11-21. On cross-examination, Dr. Jenny was forced to admit that because she based her opinion upon reports of Minor’s behavior and not upon a physical examination, that her opinion would be incorrect if the reports were inaccurate. R. 330, lines 5-10; R. 337, lines 9-14; R. 337, line 21 – R. 338, line 5. Dr. Jenny also explained that a concussion could not result from a blow to the chest or the back, which were the types of hits Trotman claimed were perpetrated by Appellant. R. 330, lines 17 -23. She was also forced to admit that the site of the contusions was a common place for bruises to develop on new walkers. R. 332, line 13 – R. 333, line 2.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in admitting a photograph of the deceased's body encased in cement where the danger of unfair prejudice clearly outweighed any probative value of the photograph in light of its obvious graphic nature and lack of any probative value to the elements of the offenses charged.

Relevant facts

Dean Kokinda, a lieutenant in the forensic services division of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office responded to a call in Orangeburg County on July 7, 2010. R. 235, line 22 – R. 236, line 24. He was directed to an area behind an abandoned single-wide trailer approximately twenty-five feet into a wooded area. At the location, he found a blue plastic thirty-five gallon trash can full of cement. The area appeared to be a dumping site for household trash. R. 237, lines 16-25. The trash can had a split on the side from which cement protruded. Kokinda could see what he thought was “decomposing flesh,” insect activity, and maggots. R. 239, lines 1-10. When the prosecution sought to introduce six photographs from the scene, Appellant objected to the introduction of two of those – state's exhibits #28 and #29 - based upon Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. The judge sustained the objection as to #29, but overruled the objection as to #28. R. 240, lines 4-17. Kokinda described the photograph as showing the trash can with the recliner, which had been resting atop the trash can removed. Additionally, the photograph showed the cement protruding from the top and a split in the plastic “towards the bottom and on the side.” This was the area where Kokinda saw insect activity. R. 243, lines 5-17.

Important for the analysis of whether the trial judge erred in allowing the state to introduce the photograph of the deceased, State's # 28, is how the trial judge ruled

concerning photographs from the autopsy. During a pretrial hearing on September 18, 2012 appellant moved to exclude photographs from the autopsy. The prosecutor intended to use seven photographs of the fifty taken during the autopsy. The prosecutor admitted there was “very little probative value to the pictures of the body” and as a result, the prosecutor was not seeking to admit those. However, the prosecutor wanted the seven photographs, showing the deceased’s body in a barrel, to “show the manner in which and the extent to which the defendants went to conceal the body” and for the pathologist “to explain the impact of that type of concealment on his examination of the body.” R. 2, line 23 – R. 3, line 19; R. 5, line 3 – R. 6, line 17; R. 7, lines 7-16.⁶ The judge explained that his inclination was to exclude the photographs because they were not probative and the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value. R. 6, line 18 – R. 7, line 3; R. 7, lines 19-25.

Appellant explained that number seven even showed the body parts. R. 8, lines 4-7. The judge surmised that the prosecution would present evidence that the body was “encased in cement” and all that was necessary to show that “somebody took the time to put a body, put it in cement.” However, the photograph did not “do anything” or “add to that.” According to the trial judge, the “only other reason is the inflammatory aspect of it.” He determined the photograph was “inflammatory.” R. 8, lines 14-25.

The prosecution used the photograph again during his closing argument to the jury. After placing the photograph on a screen, the prosecutor explained it was “a picture of the

⁶ Although the parties referred to these items as “pre-marked” and “marked,” it does not appear from the transcript that these photographs were filed with the Clerk of Court because the court reporter did not include a page for the exhibit list, and the transcript for the trial does not show these photographs as exhibits.

trash can with little [Minor]'s body in it, filled with concrete and a couch over it.” R. 446, lines 1-5. He then applauds Trotman for leading the police to the body, which he speculated would have never been found without her assistance. R. 446, lines 5-15. At the end of his closing, the prosecutor presented a photograph of Minor to the jury as well while asking the jury to think about Minor during deliberations:

You know, this is what this case is about. You heard my voice, you heard this (indicating Ms. Herring-Lash) voice, the other attorney's voice, but no one is ever going to hear his (displaying picture of [Minor]) voice again. Think about this little boy when you go back there. Think about what his life was like in those last days. Think about justice. I am asking you to have the courage of your convictions when you think about that child. Don't cave in because you know he did this. Hold him accountable. This is about the truth and it's about justice and it's about time for justice in this case.

R. 468, line 19 – R. 469, line 8.

Discussion

“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (citing State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997)). Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that even relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Photographs are unfairly prejudicial when they have a “tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” Id. (citing State v. Franklin, 318 S.C. 47, 55, 456 S.E.2d 357, 361 (1995)).

Recently, this Court reviewed the admissibility of the photographs using a four-step analysis in State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 727 S.E.2d 751 (Ct. App. 2012). The first step required an examination of the probative value of the photographs, including whether the

photographs corroborated testimony. Next, an evaluation the danger of unfair prejudice resulting from the introduction of the photographs was conducted. Third, this Court balanced the probative value and unfair prejudice. Fourth, the Court reviewed the trial court's decision for an abuse of discretion. Id.

Determining the probative value of the photographs required an understanding of the practical context of the trial, including the charged offenses. Id. at 203, 727 S.E.2d at 754. Where the prosecutor elicited ample testimony from the forensic pathologist concerning the victim's injuries and the cause of death prior to the introduction of the photographs, "the photos added very little to the jury's ability to understand the pathologist's testimony on this point." Id. at 204, 727 S.E.2d at 756. Additionally, this Court held "the danger of unfair prejudice of the admitted photos is extreme" because looking at each of the seven color photographs of the ten-year old boy's partially devoured corpse on the autopsy table was "difficult," but the "combined effect of all seven is disturbing." This Court explained the photographs were "chilling." Id. at 208, 727 S.E.2d at 757.

In State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986), the Court held the trial court erred in admitting three color autopsy photographs of one of the victims in this capital murder trial. Although the photographs were used to corroborate other evidence, the trial judge erred in permitting their introduction because they were unfairly prejudicial. "[T]he information contained within the photographs was not really at issue." Additionally, "any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs" was negated by the forensic pathologist's testimony. Id.

In Torres, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229, the prosecution offered several autopsy photographs into evidence during the sentencing phase of a capital murder trial.

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