ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Berkeley County  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213388

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ROGER WILLIAMS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 21 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial court properly admitted the photograph showing the cement filled trashcan containing Child's body at the dump site because the probative value outweighed any potential prejudicial harm.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 8, 2010, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Roger Williams on one count of homicide by child abuse and one count of unlawful conduct toward a child. The charges arose from the death of Appellant's two year old son ("Child").

During a pretrial hearing on September 12, 2012, Appellant moved to exclude photographs taken during Child's autopsy. The State indicated it was only offering seven photographs from the autopsy, which were primarily of the trashcan used to dispose of Child's body, and only one included a small part of the body itself. The purpose of the photographs was to "show the manner in which and the extent to which the defendants went to conceal the body," which was "very unique and very extensive," and to help the pathologist explain the "impact of that type of concealment on his examination of the body." (9/12/2012 Hearing Transcript [HT], pp. 13, 56; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 3, 6). The circuit court indicated it was not inclined to admit the photographs, but would have "to wait to hear and see" the evidence at trial. (HT, pp. 56-57; R., 6-7).<sup>1</sup>

The matter was called for a jury trial on October 8, 2012, before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge. There were no additional pre-trial motions prior to selection and seating of the jury.

Grace Trotman (Trotman), who pled guilty to homicide by child abuse in connection with Child's death, testified she and Appellant were romantically involved from 2006 through 2010, and had two children together during that time. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 189-195; R., pp. 85-91). In 2009, after the birth of their first child, Trotman and Appellant discovered Appellant had

---

<sup>1</sup>Prior to trial, the circuit court excluded the challenged autopsy photographs, and none were offered at trial.

fathered Child by another woman in 2007, and the Child started visiting them shortly thereafter. (TT. pp. 199-200; R., pp. 95-96).

In May 2010, Appellant and Child's mother arranged for Child to spend the summer with Appellant and Trotman. (TT. pp. 332-333; R., pp. 217-218). Trotman described the relationship between Appellant and Child as "really good" initially, but Appellant started getting their two year old daughter to slap, scratch and drag Child "to get him to toughen up." (TT. pp. 208-209; R., pp. 104-105). Trotman testified Appellant believed Child acted effeminately, and he ultimately started hitting Child himself, leaving bruises. She stated she saw Appellant beat Child around ten times, initially just kind of paddling him and popping him on the arm, but eventually hitting Child's back or chest with a closed fist, or slapping "his head to the floor." Trotman was too scared to help Child because Appellant also physically abused her. (TT, pp. 210-229; R., pp. 106-125).

Trotman testified Child had a "seizure" after Appellant "boxed him in his back" during the week prior to Child's death. She described the seizure as Child "grunting," with something weird going on with his eyes, and a loss of consciousness, but he seemed to "snap out of it" when they gave him some water. (TT. pp 214-215; R., pp. 110-111). The next morning, Trotman had to physically shake Child to wake him up, which she thought was a second seizure because he usually woke very easily, but he seemed "okay" and acted normally after he got up. (TT. pp. 216-217; R., pp. 112-113).

On Sunday, June 6 2010, Child had "poop on the back of his pants," and on the floor of his bedroom. Trotman testified Appellant got angry, and took Child into his bedroom, where she "just heard him kind of bumping and hitting him against the wall." When Trotman went into the

bedroom later, Child was “sitting on the wall like he was in a daze.” (TT. pp. 218-223; R., pp. 114-119).

Trotman testified she was feeding her infant son the next morning (June 7), when Child and her two year old daughter started fighting. When the two did not stop at her verbal command, she popped them on their arms, and Child “fell to his bottom, lost his balance and hit his head on the wall.” (TT. pp. 224-225; R., pp. 120-121). Child began “acting different, like the other days where he was having trouble breathing, like gasping for air,” and Trotman tried to perform CPR on him. She then heard Child was breathing, and his heart was beating, so she ran outside to use a neighbor’s phone. (TT. pp. 227-230; R., pp. 123-126).

Rather than call an ambulance, Trotman called Appellant at work. Appellant told her he would come home, but had to wait for a ride. Trotman then called Appellant a second time from another neighbor’s phone to say they needed to call an ambulance, but he told her not to call an ambulance and to wait until he got home. Rather than go inside to check on Child, Trotman waited outside for Appellant. When he got home approximately an hour later, they went inside the home, where Appellant touched Child’s chest and said “that boy dead.” (TT. pp. 231-233; R., pp. 127-129).

Appellant devised a plan to dispose of Child’s body, and told Trotman if the body was ever found, she should say Child fell down the stairs and hit his head “just in case the autopsy came back with blunt force trauma.” (TT, p. 233; R., p. 129). Appellant left the home, and returned with a trashcan and cement. He then removed Child’s clothes, wiped the body clean with peroxide “[s]o he wouldn’t have any of his fingerprints on him,” took the body out to the garage and wrapped it in trash bags and duct tape. (TT, pp. 234-235; R., pp. 130-131).

After wrapping the body, Appellant put cement in the trashcan, and put Child's body in the trashcan headfirst. When he realized he did not have enough cement, he called a friend to bring him more cement, which he then used to fill the rest of the trashcan. (TT. p. 235; R., p. 131).

The next day, Appellant and Trotman rented a truck and loaded the trashcan on it. They rode around looking for a remote area to dump it, but could not find one. They rented another truck the next day, and after Appellant got off work, they rode around again, ultimately putting the trashcan in a very remote, uninhabited area in Orangeburg County. (TT. pp. 235-236; R., pp. 131-132).

During the week of July 4<sup>th</sup>, Child's mother wanted to visit with him. In the on-going effort to hide Child's death, Appellant arranged for a rental car so Trotman could drive with her two children to the Battery in Charleston, where she pretended Child went missing. The police arrived and assisted in the search for Child. (TT. pp. 244-253; R., pp. 140-149).

Eventually, the police took Trotman to the police station, where they questioned her for hours, during which she told many false stories as she and Appellant had previously planned. She ultimately told the police what happened, however, and took them to the place she and Appellant dumped Child's body. (TT. pp. 254-257; R., pp. 150-153).

Lieutenant Dean Kokinda, with the Forensic Services Division of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office, testified he took photographs at the site where Child's body was dumped. He described the site as extremely remote and heavily wooded, with the trashcan hidden under a discarded lounge chair. When the State offered the photographs as State's Exhibits 24 through 29, Appellant objected to Exhibits 28 and 29 as unduly prejudicial. The circuit court admitted

Exhibit 28 (photograph of trashcan and recliner), but excluded Exhibit 29 (close-up photograph of trashcan). (TT, pp. 360-369, State's Exhibits 24-29 [Photographs]; R., pp. 235-244).<sup>2</sup>

Nicholas Batalis, M.D., qualified as an expert in forensic pathology, performed the autopsy of Child's body, and determined the cause of death was "homicidal violence, including probably blunt head trauma," based on the condition in which the body was found, and two contusions he found on the scalp. Dr. Batalis further found there were no skull fractures followed by bleeding around the brain, and concluded Child suffered a "concussive type phenomenon," or what is called an axonal injury, which can occur if the brain is re-injured when it has not completely healed from a prior injury. (TT. pp. 460-468; R., pp. 273-281).

Carol Jenny, M.D., qualified as an expert in pediatrics, forensic pediatrics and abusive head trauma, testified Child suffered from a diffuse axonal injury, meaning the brain cells were concussed and stopped functioning, over the weeks leading to his death, and ultimately died because of "repeated head injuries which led to his eventual collapse." Based on the reports of Child suffering from seizures and multiple episodes of lost consciousness, she concluded Child had "multiple episodes of head injury/concussion," which made him vulnerable to repeated seizures due to "second impact syndrome." She stated medical intervention may have prevented Child's death, but he may have developed problems later in life. (TT. pp. 504-513; R., pp. 312-321).

Detective Bobby Shuler of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Office testified he participated in an audiotaped interview of Appellant on July 7, 2010. (TT. pp. 548-554; R., pp. 356-362). During that interview, Appellant admitted he concocted the plan to hide Child's body. He went to Lowe's, inquired about which cement dried the fastest, and purchased the trashcan and

---

<sup>2</sup>State's Exhibits 24 through 29 will be transported to the Court for consideration.

cement. When he returned to the house, they took the Child's clothes off, wrapped his body in trash bags and encased him inside the trashcan with cement. (State's Exhibit 66).<sup>3</sup>

Appellant stated they rented a truck and took the trashcan out to a remote, secluded area, covered it with a discarded chair they found at the site, and left. They went back some time later to bury the trashcan, but left without burying it because the smell from the decaying body was too strong. (State's Exhibit 66).

Appellant also admitted lying to Child's mother to "buy time" after Child's death. When the mother became insistent about seeing Child over July 4<sup>th</sup>, Appellant told Trotman to go to Charleston and stage the missing child alert. (State's Exhibit 66).

Appellant's expert pathologist, Kimberly Collins, testified while Dr. Batalis found the cause of death was homicidal violence due to blunt force head trauma, due to the decomposed condition of the body, other forms of homicidal violence, such as asphyxia, commotion cordis, or the neck being wrenched to the side, could not be ruled out. (TT. pp. 487-489; R., pp. 295-297). On cross-examination, she testified she agreed with the way Dr. Batalis called the case. (TT. pp. 487-496; R., pp. 295-304).

During closing argument, the State referred to State's Exhibit 27 one time, describing it as the photograph of the trashcan with Child's body inside, filled with cement and a couch over it, and stating it showed how the trashcan was concealed. The solicitor did not refer to Exhibit 28 during closing. (TT. pp. 663-696; R., p. 435-468).

The jury convicted Appellant of homicide by child abuse and unlawful conduct toward a child, and the circuit court sentenced him to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole and ten years concurrent imprisonment, respectively. This appeal followed.

---

<sup>3</sup>State's Exhibit 66 [Audiotape] will be transported to the Court for consideration.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court properly admitted the photograph showing the cement filled trashcan containing the Child's body at the dump site because the probative value outweighed any potential prejudicial harm.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting State's Exhibit 28 because the prejudice outweighed the photograph's probative value due to its "graphic" nature, and the State used the photograph solely to provoke the passions of the jury. Appellant's argument ignores the photograph's corroborative nature, as well as its importance to the issue of Appellant's state of mind, particularly his "extreme indifference to human life," because it showed the extent of Appellant's efforts to dispose of Child's body.

Rule 403, South Carolina Rules of Evidence, provides relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." The probative value evaluation cannot be made in the abstract, but should be made in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of each case. *See State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct.App.2008) ("When [balancing the danger of unfair prejudice] against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case.") (*citing State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 [2007]).

Photographs are unfairly prejudicial when they have a "tendency to suggest a decision on an **improper** basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (emphasis added). "The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of abuse of discretion." *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008) (*quoting State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445, 450 [2003]); *see also State v. Rosemond*, 335 S.C. 593, 518 S.E.2d 588, 589-90 (1999). If

photographic evidence serves to corroborate the testimony of witnesses offered at trial, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing Martucci); see also State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 564 S.E.2d 362, 371 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Rosemond).

In this case, State's Exhibit 28 clearly corroborated Lt. Kokinda's testimony describing the dump site. While Lt. Kokinda was able to verbally describe the scene and the condition of the trashcan, the photograph gave the jury an actual visual depiction of what he described, allowing the jury to draw its own conclusions regarding the remoteness of the site, and the condition of the trashcan when it was discovered. (TT, pp. 362-368; R., pp. 237-243). The photograph also corroborated Trotman's testimony and Appellant's statement regarding the steps Appellant took to encase the body in cement and hide it.

Appellant's focus on the fact the State did not use the photograph to identify Child, or by a pathologist to describe the manner of death, is misplaced. South Carolina appellate courts have never interpreted Rule 403 so narrowly. Rather, as discussed above, the probative value of photographs that corroborate testimony, are not unduly gruesome, and help establish elements of the crime, outweighs any potential harm. See State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997) (graphic photograph of child's face admissible to corroborate testimony regarding the manner of death, and they were not unduly gruesome because there was an insignificant amount of blood visible) Martucci; Jarrell.

Contrary to Appellant's contention State's Exhibit 28 was "graphic," it simply shows a blue plastic trashcan full of cement, with a split on the side from which cement protruded. It does not show any significant blood or body fluid, and no part of Child's body is visible. Significantly, the circuit court did not admit State's Exhibit 29, which was a close-up of the split

on the side of the trashcan, and showed something oozing from the split with more insect activity. Thus, while the State does not concede the prejudicial effect of State's Exhibit 29 outweighed its probative value, the circuit court clearly conducted the required probative/prejudicial balancing test on the offered photographs.

Appellant conflates the nature of the photographs discussed at the pre-trial hearing with the photographs admitted at trial. The photographs at issue in the pre-trial hearing were taken during the autopsy as the body was being removed from the cement, and one of them showed a small part of Child's body. (HT, pp. 54-58; R., pp. 4-8). The circuit court excluded **all** the autopsy related photographs, and they are not at issue in this appeal. None of the photographs admitted at trial were related to the autopsy in any way, or showed **any** part of Child's body.

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